IN THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA 500 South Duval Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1927

MARSHALL LEE GORE

Appellant,
v.

Appeal No.: SC07-678
STATE OF FLORIDA,
L.T. Court No.: 88-607CF

Appellee.
_____/

APPELLANT'S AMENDED RULE 3.853 INITIAL BRIEF, PURSUANT TO FLA. R. APP. PRO. RULE 9.140(1)(a)

On Appeal from the Circuit Court, Third Judicial Circuit, and For Columbia County, Florida

Honorable E. Vernon Douglas Judge of the Circuit Court

FRANK J. TASSONE, JR. ESQ.

RICK A. SICHTA, ESQ.

Fla. Bar. No.: 165611 Fla. Bar. No.: 0669903

TASSONE AND SICHTA, LLC.

1833 Atlantic Blvd Jacksonville, FL 32207 Phone: 904-396-3344

Fax: 904-396-0924 Attorneys for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, MARSHALL LEE GORE, will be referred to as "Appellant." The State of Florida will be referred to as "Appellee." Attorneys Frank J. Tassone and Rick A. Sichta, who are representing Appellant in this matter, will be referred to as the "undersigned counsel."

References to the Trial Transcripts will be designated "TT," followed by the page number indicated on the Index to the Record on Appeal. Citations to the ROA will be designated "ROA" followed by a page citation.

Finally, Appellant discusses two other cases herein that have bearing on the issues as presented in this brief. 11th Judicial Circuit case <u>State v.</u> <u>Gore</u>, 90-11445 will be referred to as the "Novick Case", and 11th Judicial Circuit case <u>State v. Gore</u>, 88-9827 will be referred to as the "Corolis Case".

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.141(b)(2)(D), if a trial court summarily denies a defendant's motion for postconviction relief filed under Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a), 3.850, or 3.853, this court's standard of review is as follows: "On appeal from the denial of relief, unless the record shows conclusively that the appellant is entitled to no relief, the order shall be reversed and the cause remanded for an evidentiary hearing or other appropriate relief." See Lopez v. State, 917 So. 2d 256 (3rd DCA 2005)[Holding that, "because the trial court has failed to attach portions of the record that conclusively demonstrate that the defendant is entitled to no relief, we reverse and remand for a hearing or for the trial court to attach record excerpts which conclusively demonstrate that the defendant is not entitled to any relief. Moreover, upon remand, the trial court may review and correct the order under review as it appears to be internally inconsistent. The form order provides that the trial court found that the defendant's pro se motion was "sufficient . . . to support the relief prayed," but the trial court then denied the motion without a hearing."]. Id

STATEMENTS OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 28, 1989, the grand jury of Columbia County returned an indictment against Marshall Lee Gore, charging him with premeditated murder, kidnapping, and robbery in relation to the death of Susan Marie Roark. Appellant pled not-guilty to all counts, and was tried by a jury on March 14, 1990. The Jury convicted Appellant on March 14, 1990. The Jury recommended Appellant be sentenced to death for committing premeditated first-degree murder (count-one), recommended life in prison for the kidnapping count (count-two), and recommended a term of fifteen-years for robbery (count-three). (TT pgs. 2729-2752) The jury vote for death was 11-1. (TT pg. 2723) The court followed the jury's recommendations.

There was no direct or physical evidence presented at trial that linked appellant to the crime scene where the body of Susan Marie Roark was located. Evidence found at the crime scene was collected by Columbia County officials and comparatively analyzed (using the pre-DNA serological and forensic testing means available in 1989) with samples taken from appellant, and were found to be negative. Testimony indicating same was presented at appellant's trial.

The undersigned's investigation into this matter has determined that the following potentially exculpatory DNA evidentiary items collected in

and for the Roark case still exist and are in the possession of the Columbia County Clerk of Court (parenthetical entries following description are exhibit numbers from trial):

- 1. Earrings (pierced variety) found near the victim. (S-4)
- 2. Shoe string found on victim's wrists. (S-9)
- 3. Socks (S-12a and S-12b)
- 4. Pink and blue shirt (S-14)
- 5. White Bikini panties (S-15)
- 6. Panty shield found in two pieces (S-16)
- 7. Blood sample taken from Marshall L. Gore (S-18)
- 8. Earring (pierced variety) taken from Car (S-28F)
- 9. Multicolored Pillow taken from Car (S-28H)
- 10. Grey shirt found in brown box (S-28I)
- 11.Multi-colored shorts in brown box (S-28J)
- 12.Blood sample taken from map light of Susan Roark's vehicle. (S-28K)
- 13. Fruit of the Loom underwear and 1 pair of socks (D-5)
- 14. Curling Iron and Hair Brush belonging to victim (D-6)
- 15. Debris from Underwear and Socks (exhibit D-5) (D-7)

16.Debris from panties (exhibit S-15), panty shield (exhibit S-16) (D-8)

In addition to the items listed above that were entered as exhibits, testimony at trial showed that other potentially exculpatory items were found at the crime scene, collected, and preserved by Columbia County officials, including:

- 1) Contact lenses found near the body of the victim. (Deposition of Neal Nydam, pg. 5, Line 21, 9/5/89, See also Deposition of Neal Nydam, pg. 9, Line 11, 5/13/92)
- 2) Empty package of Marlboro brand cigarettes (Testimony of Neal Nydam, TT pg. 828)
- 3) Three empty beer bottles (Testimony of Karen Cooper TT pg. 852)
- 4) Fingernails collected near victim's body (Deposition of Neal Nydam, pg. 9, Line 11, 5/13/92)
- 5) Strands of hair found in victim's right hand (Testimony of Karen Cooper, TT pg. 851, Testimony of Randall Roberts TT pg. 775, See Deposition of Neal Nydam, pg. 19, Line 16, 5/13/92)

None of the items listed herein were subject to DNA testing prior to appellant's trial as the technology was not yet available, nor have any of the listed items been tested since the conclusion of appellant's trial.

Appellant filed a pro se motion for DNA testing pursuant to Fla. Rule. Crim. Pro 3.853 with the Third Judicial Circuit of Florida on June 6, 2006. Circuit Judge E. Vernon Douglas dismissed appellant's pro se motion in an order dated July 11, 2006. In the Order, the trial court dismissed appellant's motion stating that appellant failed to meet the statutory requirement of Fla. Rule of Crim. Pro. 3.853(b)(4) in that he failed to establish that the identity of the murderer was ever in question at trial.

Appellant appealed this decision pro se to the Florida Supreme Court, who subsequently ordered the trial court to appoint counsel on this case. The undersigned attorneys were subsequently appointed by the trial court on June 16, 2007, after which the Florida Supreme Court ordered counsel to file a written response to Appellant's pro se 3.853 motion. A response was filed with the Clerk on or about October 1, 2007. This response was subsequently struck by the court, stating that it did not comply with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210 and ordered counsel to file an amended brief with the court by July 21, 2008. The instant brief follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial court erred when it denied Appellant's pro se motion for post conviction relief per Fla. Rule of Crim. Pro. 3.853, holding that the identification of appellant as the murderer of Susan Roark was never in question at trial per Rule 3.853(b)(4). The order of the trial court was insufficient on its face in denying appellant's motion, and appellant has sufficiently met each and every requirement of Rule 3.853(b) to warrant DNA testing of the evidentiary items shown to remain in existence that were collected during the investigation of this case, including 3.853(b)(4).
- 2. DNA testing of the evidentiary items collected in Miami Florida during the simultaneous investigations of the Roark, Corolis, and Novick cases will allow appellant to successfully attack the introduction of William's Rule evidence entered against him in the instant (Roark) case at trial. The testimony of the State's witness Tina Corolis could successfully be attacked and rebutted by the DNA testing of evidence in the possession of Miami-Dade law enforcement and judicial officials.

CLAIM ONE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION PER FLA. R. CRIM. PRO. 3.853. APPELLANT HAS MET ALL STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 3.853(b) AND HAS CONCLUSIVELY ESTABLISHED THAT IDENTIFICATION OF APPELLANT AS THE PERPETRATOR OF THE CRIME WAS IN QUESTION AT TRIAL.

Appellant was convicted of the murder of Susan Roark based largely upon circumstantial evidence and the William's Rule testimony of Tina Corolis. The state presented no eyewitnesses to the murder, and no physical evidence was collected that linked appellant to the murder, despite subsequent testing. The state's case was comprised of witnesses that put appellant with the victim at a party in Tennessee days or weeks prior to the estimated time of the murder, recovered items belonging to the victim that were allegedly pawned by the appellant in Tampa Bay Florida, and a traffic ticket issued to appellant while in possession of the victim's vehicle in Miami Florida. In denying appellant's 3.853 motion, the trial court stated:

"The identity of the perpetrator of this crime is, was, and can be established without any direct physical evidence. Some of the means of identifying the Defendant are: the defendant was the last person seen with the victim, the Defendant was in possession of the victim's car (in which he was the last person seen with the victim), and the Defendant pawned personal items of the victim."

The trial court listed no case law in support of its decision denying appellant's motion, did not address any of the three requirements when

ruling on a 3.853 motion¹, and did not acknowledge the fact that no direct physical evidence (after serological and fingerprint testing of items collected from the crime scene by FDLE) was presented establishing appellant as the perpetrator.

Neither did the order of the trial court acknowledge the fact that no eyewitness testimony, or audio/video evidence of any kind, linked appellant to the murder of the victim. The jurors in this case concluded, based on the circumstantial evidence presented by the state combined with the William's rule testimony of Tina Corolis, that appellant had in fact murdered the victim.

Appellant has consistently maintained since his arrest that he is innocent of the crimes for which he was convicted, and reaffirms this contention for the purpose of this motion. The requested testing of the items will serve to establish that person(s) other than appellant were responsible for the death of Susan Marie Roark. Forensic testing conducted by both

_

¹ See <u>Van Poyck v. State</u>, 908 So. 2d 326 at 329 (2005 Fla. LEXIS 1118) In which this court determined that a trial court must address the following three issues when ruling on a 3.853 motion: A) Whether it has been shown that physical evidence that may contain DNA still exists. (B) Whether the results of DNA testing of that physical evidence likely would be admissible at trial and whether there exists reliable proof to establish that the evidence containing the tested DNA is authentic and would be admissible at a future hearing. (C) Whether there is reasonable probability that the movant would have been acquitted or would have received a lesser sentence if the DNA evidence had been admitted at trial.

Columbia County officials and FDLE, using the available technology in 1989, could not link appellant to the crime scene where the body of Susan Roark was discovered. DNA testing of the items listed previously herein would serve to both establish the true identity of the actual killer of Susan Marie Roark and/or exclude appellant as the perpetrator of the crime for which he was convicted.

Florida courts have granted DNA testing in cases where forensic tests conducted prior to the availability of DNA testing showed that no direct physical evidence linked a defendant to a crime or crime scene. <u>See Reddick v. State</u>, 929 So. 2d 34 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) [Wherein the Appellate court reversed the decision of the trial court which stated that appellant had failed to show DNA testing could provide exoneration.]; See also, <u>Schofield v. State</u>, 861 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003)

Likewise, Florida courts have addressed the issue of establishing the identity of a suspect per Fla. Rule of Crim. Pro. 3.853. <u>See Zollman v. State</u>, 820 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2002) [Holding that: <u>Fla. R. Crim. P.</u> 3.853(<u>b</u>)(<u>4</u>) requires the defendant to allege sufficient facts to establish two things: (1) that identification was a genuinely disputed issue at trial; and (2) that the requested DNA testing will either exonerate the defendant or mitigate his sentence.]

In the instant case, identification of the appellant as the murder suspect formed the complete crux of the state's case against him. The defense attempted to show that despite the circumstantial evidence presented linking appellant with the victim, the state could not present any direct physical or testimonial evidence that appellant committed the murder.

In one of the few Florida Cases to directly address the issue of identification, *Hartline v. State*, 806 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), the Appellate Court dismissed a 3.853 petition as identification of the perpetrator was not disputed at trial, as Hartline 1) admitted to performing the act for which he was convicted, and 2) an eyewitness testified that Hartline committed the acts. Neither of these two specific conditions for dismissal exists in appellant's case. Appellant did not confess to murdering the victim, in fact he has maintained his innocence, and the state presented no eyewitness testimony against him.

Likewise, in *Riley v. State*, 851 So. 2d 811 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003) the appellate court reversed the trial court for dismissing a 3.853 motion and held that the petitioner sufficiently established that identification was in question when he questioned the blood stained items, and questionable *eyewitness testimony* against him. *Id.* Again, in the instant case, the state did

not present any eyewitness testimony against appellant, and the issue of Identification was the core of the State's case against him.

Florida's Second DCA has consistently held that "identity is at issue even when the victim provides a positive identification". *See Ortiz v. State*, 884 So. 2d 70 at 72 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004); *Manual v. State*, 855 So. 2d 97 at 98 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003) Again, as there is no eyewitness identification or testimony proving that Appellant murdered Susan Roark, and because of this appellant has more than met the statutory requirements of Rule 3.853(b)(4) in proving that identity is at issue herein.

This lack of credible direct physical or eyewitness evidence against defendant is sufficient for appellant to meet the identification requirement of 3.853(b)(4). *See Reddick*, at *35*. Additionally, and as comparable to the *Reddick* case, appellant here has maintained his innocence since his conviction, and in his brief to the trial court as well as the instant brief, he has made a conclusive showing that evidentiary items remain in existence that could be tested and could potentially exonerate him of the crime.

Given the advances in scientific testing since 1989, it is entirely plausible that the evidence collected at the crime scene would exonerate the appellant. The testing procedures of 1989 could not link appellant to the scene through the items collected at the scene. Given that appellant was

sentenced to death for this crime largely through circumstantial evidence and William's Rule testimony, the state has a moral obligation to take strides to exhaust remedies to determine whether or not any of the remaining physical evidence either exonerates the appellant and/or proves the victim was murdered by another suspect.

Given the state's lack of eyewitness, that no physical evidence of any kind links appellant to the crime scene or location of the body; and that the numerous physical items found at the scene were collected and tested negative as to defendant's presence at the scene per 1989 technology, the appellant contends that these facts comprise a showing of the necessary "reasonable probability" that DNA testing would serve to exonerate or acquit him of the murder conviction. See Knighten v. State, 829 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2002) [Reversing and remanding to the trial court, holding that defendant's 3.850 motion met the necessary factual showing and standards required under rule 3.853.] See also, Huffman v. State, 837 So.2d 1147 (Fla. App. 2 Dist., 2003) [Wherein the District Court reversed the decision of the lower tribunal in denying petitioner DNA testing of evidence despite the existence of (1) a matching fingerprint; (2) phone calls traced to defendant's house that were made to the victim's house after the attack; and (3) the victim's in-court identification of defendant's voice as the voice of her assailant. The appellate court held that the victim's identification of defendant as her assailant did not mean that identity was not genuinely disputed for purposes of postconviction DNA testing. at 1149]

Lastly, and in relation to the definition and meaning of the "identification requirement" of Rule 3.853, there exists a discrepancy between the appellate districts of Florida. As cited previously herein, the Second DCA held in the *Zollman* case that "Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853(b)(4) requires the defendant to allege sufficient facts to establish two things: (1) that identification was a genuinely disputed issue at trial; and (2) that the requested DNA testing will either exonerate the defendant or mitigate his sentence."

However, the First DCA held in *Crow v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1257 (1st DCA 2004) that there is no statutory mandatory requirement that the defendant show identity was at issue in pursuing testing per Rule 3.853, stating that, "testing may be available even if the defendant does not deny commission of the act alleged to be a crime. The pertinent part of the rule makes testing available if the result would show that the defendant was misidentified or if the result would otherwise exonerate the defendant." *Id* at 1260 Appellant clearly stated that DNA testing would exonerate him, and

that he is absolutely innocent of the crimes (See Pro Se brief pg 4), therefore he has satisfied the requirement of Rule 3.853(4) per the holding in *Crow*.

Regardless of which holding the court uses to address the issue of identification, appellant contends that he has met the requirements of both cases. Per <u>Zollman</u>, the appellant has shown that proving identity was the core of the state's case at trial as there was no physical or eyewitness testimony linking him to the murder; and per the holding of <u>Crow</u> he has stated and shown that exoneration is possible through the testing of the evidence in the possession of the court.

In opposition to the appellant's position, the state will most likely cite cases such as *Hitchcock v. State*, 866 So.2d 23 (Fla. 2004) wherein this court upheld the lower tribunal's decision to deny petitioner's request for DNA testing because that petitioner failed to link how the evidence requesting to be tested would exonerate him of the crime.

Appellant's case is distinguishable from <u>Hitchcock</u> in that the items he is requesting testing on would serve to possibly exonerate him as they were recovered on or near the body of the victim. The probability that anyone other than the actual murderer was in the vicinity of the area where the body was found is improbable given: 1) the desolate location where her body was discovered, and 2) the fact that her body was not discovered until over 3

months from the time she was last seen alive in Tennessee (January 30, 1988 to April 2, 1988).

The state may also cite <u>Galloway v. State</u>, 802 So. 2d 1173 (Fla. App. 1 Dist., 2001), in support of its response, however appellant's case is again distinguishable from <u>Galloway</u> in that appellant had no co-defendants in his case that put him at the scene, was never linked to the site of the dumping through confession or physical evidence, and that appellant has conclusively demonstrated that should DNA be obtained from the evidentiary items that does not match the defendant, than the reliability of the conviction is called into question. At the very minimum such a finding would raise the possibility that someone other than the appellant could have been responsible for the death of Susan Roark. Appellant's case is distinguishable from cases such as <u>Hitchcock</u> and <u>Galloway</u> where testing has been denied, and has effectively demonstrated same.

Appellant asks this court to grant this claim and remand to the trial court with instructions to conduct a hearing to determine if DNA testing of the evidentiary items collected in this case is warranted.

CLAIM TWO

DNA TESTING OF ITEMS COLLECTED DURING THE SIMULTANEOUS INVESTIGATIONS OF APPELLANT'S <u>COROLIS</u> AND <u>NOVICK</u> CASES BY MIAMI-DADE LAW ENFORCEMENT WILL SERVE TO ALLOW APPELLANT TO ATTACK THE VALIDITY OF THE WILLIAM'S RULE TESTIMONY PRESENTED AGAINST HIM AT TRIAL IN THE <u>ROARK</u> CASE.

In addition to testing the immediate items collected during the investigation of the instant case, DNA testing is requested on other items in order to combat the validity of the William's rule evidence presented at trial in the instant case in the form of testimony by Tina Corolis. Appellant contends that the ability of the state to obtain his 1989 conviction for the attempted murder of Tina Corolis is due in part because the office of the State Attorney in the Eleventh Circuit transferred and used evidence between the Tina Corolis (Lower tribunal number 88-9827, Florida 11th Circuit) and the Robyn Novick (Lower tribunal number 90-11445, Florida 11th Circuit) investigations.

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