#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARSHALL LEE GORE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-678

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court specifically found no "genuine" Issue I: disputed facts/issues as to the identification of the murderer of Susan Roark. As such Gore failed below to show the requisite nexus between the exhibit evidence listed in Appellant's Brief pp. 4-5 and other "evidence" collected near Ms. Roark's body in the dump where Susan Roark was found or any question as to the identity of Ms. Roark's murderer, Marshall Gore. As such the trial court was correct in finding Gore's Rule 3.853 insufficient.

Issue II: Any DNA testing of any collected items in either the Corolis and/or Novick cases is not germane to the instant murder. Use of that evidence to attack of <u>Williams</u>' Rule evidence/testimony presented in the instant Roark murder is unwarranted because this Court found the Corolis testimony admissible on direct appeal. Moreover, Gore is simply attempting to relitigate issues in those other cases.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING GORE'S MOTION UNDER RULE 3.853.

Gore argues that there was no direct evidence to support his first degree murder conviction of Susan Roark, rather he contends that "the jurors in this case concluded, based on the circumstantial evidence presented by the state combined with the William's rule testimony of Tina Corolis, that appellant had in fact murdered the victim." (IB 9). He asserts that he is innocent of the Roark murder and requested below, DNA testing of a number of items which he asserts will "establish that person(s) other than appellant were responsible for the death of Susan Marie Roark." (IB 9).

The trial court in entertaining Gore's pro se motion below, concluded that the statutory requirements of Rule 3.853, pertaining to the issue of identity of Gore as the murderer, was not at issue based on the evidence presented at trial. Specifically:

The Defendant seeks to have DNA tests run on evidence that was collected near the victim. It should be noted that the victim was buried under a layer of leaves at an unauthorized trash dump in a rural part of Columbia County. The Defendant alleges, that because there is no physical evidence that ties him to the victim, crime scene, or county, DNA tests run on the evidence cited will reveal that he is innocent.

The Defendant is incorrect in this assertion. The identity of the perpetrator of this crime is, was, and can be established without any direct evidence. Some of the means of identifying the Defendant are: the Defendant was the last person seen with the victim, the Defendant was in possession of the victims car (in which he was the last person seen with the victim), the Defendant pawned personal and items of the victims(sic).

(RA-11-12).

Rule 3.853 -- Motion for Postconviction DNA Testing, provides in material part:

(a) Purpose. --This rule provides procedures for obtaining DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) testing under sections 925.11 and 925.12, Florida Statutes.

(b) Contents of Motion. --The motion for postconviction DNA testing must be under oath and must include the following:

(1) a statement of the facts relied upon in support of the motion, including a description of the physical evidence containing DNA to be tested and, if known, the present location or last known location of the evidence and how it originally was obtained;

(2) a statement that the evidence was not previously tested for DNA, or a statement that the results of previous DNA testing were inconclusive and that subsequent scientific developments in DNA testing techniques likely would produce a definitive result establishing that the movant is not the person who committed the crime;

(3) a statement that the movant is innocent and how the DNA testing requested by the motion will exonerate the movant of the crime for which the movant was sentenced, or a statement how the DNA testing will mitigate the sentence received by the movant for that crime;

(4) a statement that identification of the movant is a genuinely disputed issue in the case and why it is an issue or an explanation of how the DNA evidence would either exonerate the defendant or mitigate the sentence that the movant received; (5) a statement of any other facts relevant to the motion; and

(6) a certificate that a copy of the motion has been served on the prosecuting authority....

(Emphasis added).

The trial court specifically found no "genuine" disputed facts/issues as to the identification of the murderer of Susan Roark. Moreover this Court had previously concluded in *Gore v*. *State*, 846 So. 2d 461, 464 (Fla. 2003), that:

The facts of the case are set out in this Court's 1992 opinion affirming Gore's conviction and sentence.

Susan Roark was last seen alive on January 30, 1988, in Cleveland, Tennessee, in the company of Marshall Lee Gore. Gore had planned to travel to Florida with a friend from Cleveland. While waiting for his friend at a convenience store, Gore struck up a conversation with Roark. Gore then entered Roark's car, a black Mustang, and they drove away.

Gore accompanied Roark to a party at the home of a friend of hers. Roark had planned to spend the night at her friend's home. Sometime between 11:30 and 12:00, Roark left to drive Gore home. She never returned. The following day Roark's grandmother reported her missing. She had been expected home by 7 a.m. that morning.

Gore arrived in Tampa on January 31, driving a black Mustang. He convinced a friend to help him pawn several items of jewelry later identified as belonging to Roark. Gore then proceeded to Miami, where police subsequently recovered Roark's Mustang after it was abandoned in a two-car accident. Gore's fingerprint was found in the car, as well as a traffic ticket which had been issued to him while he was in Miami.

On April 2, 1988, the skeletonized remains of Roark's body were discovered in Columbia County, Florida. The naked body was found in a wooded area which had been used as an unauthorized dumping ground for household garbage and refuse. Expert testimony established that the body was placed in its location either at the time of death or within two hours of death.

Gore v. State, 599 So. 2d 978, 980 (Fla.), cert. denied., 506 U.S. 1003, 121 L. Ed. 2d 545, 113 S. Ct. 610 (1992).

In addition to this evidence, the State introduced the testimony of two other witnesses. Specifically, Lisa Ingram testified that she "was riding in a car with Gore on February 19 when she saw a woman's purse in the back seat. She testified that Gore stated that the purse belonged to 'a girl that he had killed last night.'" *Id.* at 983. We concluded on appeal that "this testimony was admissible as an admission with regard to the Roark homicide." *Id.* . . .

(Emphasis added)

Based on the allegations presented below and articulated on appeal, it is sheer speculation to suggest that any "credible evidence of innocence" exists between the exhibit evidence admitted at trial -- listed in Appellant's Brief pp. 4-5 and other "evidence" collected near Ms. Roark's body in the dump site where Ms. Roark's body was found (Appellant's Brief p. 5). The question as to the identity of Ms. Roark's murderer, Marshall Gore, was overwhelming proven at trial. As such the trial court was correct in finding Gore's Rule 3.853 defective and insufficient.

Rule 3.853 (b)(4) reads in material part: "a statement that identification of the movant is a genuinely disputed issue in the case and why it is an issue or an explanation of how the DNA

evidence would either exonerate the defendant .... " In <u>Saffold v.</u>

State, 850 So. 2d 574, 576-77 (Fla. 2DCA 2003), the Court note:

"... In the present case, because Saffold's statement of the facts was so lacking in detail that it did not include the nature of the conviction even or challenging, convictions he is conclude we that Saffold's motion was facially insufficient under subsection (b)(1) of the rule.

As to subsections (b)(3) and (b)(4), Saffold asserted the following: "Movant hereby submits that he is innocent of this crime. Further, DNA testing will exonerate movant and show that the semen obtained from the virgina [sic] swabbing of the victim does not match nor [sic] belong to movant." While Saffold alleged that he was "innocent of this crime," his motion indicated that he had been convicted of five offenses. The motion does not indicate to which of the five offenses his claim of innocence is directed, and it is unclear if he is referring to a single crime or perhaps a criminal episode.

Saffold also asserted several facts as reflecting that identification was a genuinely disputed issue. Не claimed that shortly after the alleged crime, the victims could not pick him out of a photopack; that one of the victims testified during deposition that the suspect was wearing a mask, but she stated that she could identify her assailant; that all three victims observed Saffold at a hearing prior to trial, which enabled them to identify him at trial; and that the composite sketch of the suspect did not look like Saffold. However, Saffold did not allege that he employed a misidentification defense at trial or that there was no other evidence that he was the perpetrator of the offenses in question, apart from his identification by the victims.

While some leeway is afforded to the pleadings of pro se litigants, subsection (b)(3) of the rule requires Saffold to state his innocence of the crime and how DNA testing will exonerate him or will mitigate his sentence for that crime. Subsection (b)(4) requires him to state that identification is genuinely disputed and why identification is an issue, or provide an

explanation of how the DNA evidence would exonerate him or mitigate his sentence. Other than asserting general, conclusory information, Saffold has not shown how DNA testing will exonerate him from an unspecified crime or mitigate his sentence, or why identification is an issue in a case involving unspecified facts and a conviction of an unspecified crime. Without some information as to the primary evidence against him and defense employed at trial, we conclude that any provide Saffold's motion does not а facially sufficient statement to meet the requirements of subsections (b)(3) and (b)(4) of the rule."

Likewise, in Scarborough v. State, 906 So. 2d 379, 380

(Fla. 2DCA 2005), the Court observed:

Artis Scarborough was convicted after jury trial of armed robbery of a supermarket. Scarborough appeals the summary denial of his motion filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853 in which he sought DNA testing of a jacket that Scarborough alleges was recovered by the police at or near the supermarket. A review of the motion reveals that Scarborough made a sufficient showing that his trial identification was in dispute within the meaning of rule 3.853(b)(4). See Saffold v. State, 850 So. 2d 574, 577 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003); Zollman v. State, 820 So. 2d 1059, 1062 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). Scarborough did not facially sufficient showing make а under rule 3.853(b)(4) as to the relevance of DNA testing of the recovered jacket in exonerating him. See Hitchcock v. State, 866 So. 2d 23, 28 (Fla. 2004).

While the Court in <u>Scarborough</u>, allowed a refiling of the Rule 3.853 motion, the Court observed that-- Scarborough shall state "how and where the jacket sought to be tested was recovered by the police, whether that jacket was introduced into evidence, and whether the witness who identified Scarborough, or any other witness, also positively identified that jacket as the one worn by a perpetrator of the robbery. **Scarborough must show**  that DNA testing of the recovered jacket is relevant to the issue of his identification as the perpetrator of the crime." (Emphasis added).

Indeed, Gore's failure to plead the requisite nexus in his motion, reflects the utter baselessness and speculation of his request. The trial court's ruling warranted the denial. See <u>King v. State</u>, 808 So. 2d 1237, 1247-1248 (Fla. 2002)(upholding denial of request for DNA testing of hair found on victim's nightgown as it was not possible to discern how, when or where the hair had been transferred to the victim); <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 872 SO. 2d 230, 242-243 (Fla. 2003)(rejecting argument that DNA testing would have provided relief for defendant given that any DNA evidence obtained from items found on or near victim's body was, "unreliably contaminated due to the location of the remains").

Gore argues that the trial court "listed no case law" in denying the motion, "did not address any" of the requirements of the Rule, and did not acknowledge the fact that no direct physical evidence---was presented...." He contends that he is innocent of the murder of Susan Roark and urges that "available technology in 1989, could not link" him to "the crime scene where the body of Susan Roark was discovered." He now contends that with the advent of DNA the physical evidence will "establish the identity of the actual killer". (IB 9-10)

The trial record before the Court on direct appeal supports the trial court's conclusion that the fact that Gore committed this murder is not in dispute. While on direct appeal Gore sought to suppress collateral crime evidence that went to identity, the physical evidence presented showed that within 24 hours after Ms. Roark's disappearance, Gore was in Florida, in possession of Susan Roark's black Mustang (Susan Brown testified that unannounced, Gore showed up in Tampa, on Superbowl Sunday in 1988, driving the black Mustang); had Susan Brown pawn Ms. Roark's jewelry in Tampa, on January 31, 1988, with 24 hours of her disappearance on January 30, 1988;<sup>6</sup> Gore received a traffic citation in his name, while driving Susan Roark's car on January 31, 1988, in Tampa, Florida<sup>7</sup>; and Gore's fingerprints were found on the black Mustang. He was last seen with Ms. Roark at a party in Tennessee, January 30, 1988,<sup>8</sup> and, there was no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Carolyn Roark, Susan's stepmother was able to identify the jewelry pawned in Tampa, Florida as belonging to Susan. (TR-2154-2160).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ralph Garcia, a Miami crime scene investigator testified at trial that he processed a black Mustang which had been impounded. He retrieved from the car a yellow chain with a teddy bear charm, earrings on the sun visor two pillows-- one multicolored, a textbook with Susan Roark's name inside, and other evidence that were part of the list of items "proposed" for DNA testing by Gore in his 3.853 motion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The trial record reflects that Eric Hammond, a party attendee, testified that he saw Susan leave with "Tony" Gore around 12:00 a.m., and heard her state that she was going to take "Tony" home. (TR-1367). Michelle Trammell, Susan's girlfriend,

"credible witness" who saw Susan Roark alive after that point. Her nude body was recovered from a dump in Columbia County, Florida, and interestingly, Gore admitted to Lisa Ingram, that a purse in the black Mustang belonged to "a girl that he killed last night."<sup>9</sup>

Moreover, at the December 14, 2000, evidentiary hearing wherein trial counsel's representation was challenged, defense counsel Jimmy Hunt testified that Gore admitted the murder of Ms. Roark. (PCR XVII, 1783-1785).<sup>10</sup>

testified that Susan was going to take "Tony" home and then spend the night with Ms. Trammell. Susan's grandmother confirmed that at 10:00 p.m. on January 30, 1988, Susan called and informed her that she, Susan, would be home in time to go to church the next morning. (TR-1310-1334)

<sup>9</sup> The admissions to Ms. Ingram were proven credible in light of Ms. Brown's testimony regarding the pawning of Susan Roark's jewelry.

<sup>10</sup> "He said that they got to a place near Lake City and he told me that's where the story ends. He told me he would not discuss what happened in this area because of his fear that the authorities were listening in on our conversation. He told me he would be glad to discuss this with me after he had been transferred to south Florida and discovery had been received in his case.

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